


Hopkins Plat Map of St. Paul, 1916, Plate 30, indicates that by this date, the farm was bordered on the south, as well as on the north, by land that 
was platted into residential lots, although none of this land would be developed as shown.

popularity of this first stretch of the 
road prompted others to donate river-
front property, and by 1903, grading 
of the boulevard between Summit and 
Randolph had begun. In January of 
1904, the City of St. Paul condemned 
the portion of the Spangenberg farm 
fronting the river, and Frederick and 
Anna were required to deed seven 
acres to the city for the project. The 
farm was reduced to 27.3 acres and 
would soon be cut off from the river.23

When Frederick died in 1907, he 
must have realized that the farm’s 
days were numbered. He had sold 
over half of his acreage in the mid-
1880s, and adjacent land to the south 
as well as the north was platted for 
residential development. Automobile 

traffic past his cow pasture was sure 
to increase now that the boulevard 
stretched from the bridge leading to 
Fort Snelling on the south to the city 
limits on the north. Changes in the 
dairy industry would make their small 
operation unable to compete with 
large dairy farms that were now grow-
ing up outside the city. In 1904, the 
St. Paul Daily Globe listed F. Spangen-
berg as one of only 16 dairy farmers 

granted “licenses for the sale and dis-
position of milk within the corporate 
limits of the city of St. Paul.” Just two 
years earlier, 43 individuals had been 
licensed to do so. Despite this trend, 
the Spangenberg sons August and 
Fred continued the dairy operation 
after Frederick Sr. died. Anna deeded 
the property to them in 1909 and con-
tinued to live there with them until 
her death in 1913.24 

Before long, the Spangenberg sons stopped 
resisting the changes occurring around them, 

sold the rest of their cattle, and accepted a 
developer’s o�er for their land.
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While Frederick and Anna had 
succeeded in passing the farm down 
to the next generation, August and 
Fred would hold onto it for only 
another decade. Pressures on the 
property continued to mount, and 
by 1916, present-day Cretin Avenue, 
Montrose Place, and Mount Curve 
Boulevard had been extended north 
to the southern boundary of the 
farm. The farm was bordered on the 
south by platted, undeveloped land 
and on the west by Mississippi River 
Boulevard. Dominating 28 acres to 
the north was Stonebridge, the estate 
built between 1914 and 1916 by Oliver 
Crosby, the inventor and industrial-
ist who cofounded American Hoist 
and Derrick, at the time one of St. 
Paul’s largest employers. Immedi-
ately to the east lay two small farms, 
one owned by H. M. Muckle and the 
other by William E. Stork. When the 
Stork property was subdivided and 
a developer was lined up to buy the 
lots along the proposed extension of 
Jefferson Avenue, Fred Spangenberg 
filed a lawsuit against the Storks in an 
attempt to block the sale. After this 

tactic failed, he opposed in vain the 
condemnation of a strip of land along 
the northern boundary of his farm 
that was required for the widening 
of Jefferson Avenue, upon which the 
Stork’s sale was contingent.25 

Before long, the Spangenberg 
sons stopped resisting the changes 
occurring around them, sold the 
rest of their cattle, and accepted a 
developer’s offer for their land. Sub-
division of the farm occurred in late 
1918 after August and Fred sold all 
but five lots, which contained the 
house, the barn, and a group of small 
outbuildings. All but the house were 
demolished between 1919 and 1921, 
when the city took easements on the 
property and constructed the street 
improvements that the brothers had 
resisted. The house now stood on less 
than half an acre surrounded by a 
platted but as yet undeveloped urban 
neighborhood.26 

With the proceeds from the sale of 
the farm, August and Fred made sev-
eral improvements to the house, none 
of which compromised its architec-
tural integrity. Exterior doors on the 

kitchen addition that were oriented 
to the barn and outbuildings were 
replaced with a centrally located door 
on the rear of the main portion of the 
house. Rustic wood porches seen in 
early photographs were removed. The 
colonial revival vestibule added to the 
front entrance at this time was a typ-
ical addition to older houses during 
the 1920s and ’30s. The original 
multi-paned double-hung windows 
were probably replaced at this time. 
Today there are multi-paned case-
ment windows throughout the first 
floor and six-over-six double-hung 
windows on the second floor. On the 
interior, hardwood floors, lath and 
plaster, and millwork enhanced the 
previously spartan rooms. The old 
kitchen became a family room and 
a new brick fireplace replaced the 
cookstove. A small bedroom on the 
first floor became the new kitchen, 
which was furnished with wood cup-
boards and linoleum countertops. 
Upstairs, one of the four bedrooms 
became a bathroom. The entire 
house was brought into the twentieth 
century with modern plumbing and 
electricity.27 

The bachelor brothers sub-
sequently lost the balance of the 
proceeds from the sale of the farm in 
a poor investment and were forced 
to take out mortgages on the prop-
erty. After August died in 1932, Fred 
shared the house with two nieces, 
Julia E. Peters and Minnie C. Peters, 
daughters of his sister Emma and her 
husband, Louis C. F. Peters (whose 
family once owned the property just 
south of the Spangenberg farm). Julia 
and Minnie assumed the mortgage 
on the property when Fred conveyed 
the deed to them in 1934 with the pro-
vision that he could live out his life 
there. After Fred died in 1951, the two 
women deeded the property to their 
sister Gertrude (Peters) Yates and her 
husband, Hobart M. Yates, who lived 
there until they sold it in 1972.

Two of Frederick and Anna Spangenberg’s sons, August Spangenberg (back row, left) and William 
Spangenberg (front row, right) with two of their nieces, Julia and Edith Winter, 1900.
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The Yateses were good stewards 
of the old farmhouse, taking on a 
great deal of deferred maintenance, 
although Gertrude Yates credited 
her older sister Minnie Peters with 
being the one who saved the house 
by paying the bills during the 1930s 
and 1940s. Gertrude, the youngest 
granddaughter of Frederick and 
Anna, would be the last family mem-
ber to live in the house. Since then, it 
has been cared for and protected by 
others who appreciated its historical 
significance.28

The importance of both Spangen-
berg farmhouses was recognized 
during the early days of the historic 
preservation movement, which 
started in the 1970s, fueled in part by 
the US bicentennial in 1976. The Fred-
erick Spangenberg House was listed 
on the National Register of Historic 
Places in 1976. It was also one of the 
first three properties to be recom-
mended for local historic designation 
by St. Paul’s Heritage Preservation 
Commission, in 1977. (Designation 
was finalized in 1979.) Recognized 
primarily as a local landmark, it 
perhaps has broader significance as 
the best-preserved mid-nineteenth-
century limestone farmhouse in 
Minnesota. The exterior of the house 
is essentially the same as when it was 
completed in 1868, and except for 
kitchen and bathroom revisions, the 
interior is largely unchanged since 
its remodel by the family in the early 
1900s. The Charles Spangenberg 
House in Woodbury was listed on the 
National Register in 1978. A two-story 
wing has been added on the south 
side of the house, the end chimneys 
have been removed, and two dormers 
have been added; these alterations, 
however, do not greatly compromise 
the house’s vernacular character, 
which is still evident in its boxy 
shape, thick stone walls, and distinc-
tive masonry.29

Although Frederick and Charles 
did not succeed in passing down 
their farmsteads to future genera-
tions of Spangenbergs, they did leave 
behind two remarkable houses that 
are tangible evidence of their bold 
dreams. While their aspirations were 
similar to thousands of other German 
immigrants who came to Minnesota 
in the mid-nineteenth century, Fred-
erick and Charles Spangenberg were 
among the few who left an enduring 
mark on the state’s landscape. 
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